FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/8/2019 2:18 PM

NO. 97182-0

COA No. 77044-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petitioner,

v.

KENNETH ARTHUR WARD,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: ROSEMARY KAHOLOKULA, WSBA#25026 Chief Criminal Prosecuting Attorney ERIK PEDERSEN, WSBA# 20015 Senior Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Petitioner Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex 605 South Third St. Mount Vernon, WA 98273 (360) 416-1600

1.	Summary of Trial Court Proceeding
	2	Court of Appeals Decision 6

V.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT					
	1. The Court of Appeals decision providing for a necessity defense where the defense failed to establish that there were no reasonable legal alternatives is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Courts of Appeal					
	2. The Court of Appeals decision applying a standard of de novo review for relevancy determinations is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals					
	3. The Court of Appeals decision providing for a necessity defense for political action taken when the defendant acknowledged other legal alternatives existed is an issue of substantial public interest					
VI.	CONCLUSION18					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT
State v. Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d 333, 394 P.3d 373 (2017)
State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 16 P.3d 626 (2001)
State v. Aver, 109 Wn.2d 303, 745 P.2d 479 (1987)
State v. Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 389 P.3d 462 (2017)
State v. Ellis, 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998)
State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.2d 576 (2010)
State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)
State v. Read, 147 Wn.2d 238, 53 P.3d 26 (2002)
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523
U.S. 1008, 118 S.Ct. 1193, 140 L.Ed.2d 323 (1998)
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
State v. Blair, 3 Wn. App. 2d 343, 415 P.3d 1232 (2018)
State v. Brockway, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1064 (Div. I 2018)
State v. Diana, 24 Wn. App. 908, 604 P.2d 1312 (1979)
State v. Gallegos, 73 Wn. App. 644, 871 P.2d 621 (1994)
State v. Horn, 3 Wn. App. 2d 302, 415 P.3d 1225 (2018)
State v. Parker, 127 Wn. App. 352, 110 P.3d 1152 (2005)
State v. Strizheus, 163 Wn. App. 820, 262 P.3d 100 (2011)
State v. Ward, Wn. App. 2d, 438 P.3d 588 (2019) passim
UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT
U.S. v. Bailey, 444 U.S. 394, 100 S. Ct. 624, 62 L.Ed. 2d 575 (1980) 12, 16
FEDERAL CASES
U.S. v. DeChristopher, 695 F.3d 1082 (10th Cir. 2012)
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Sixth Amendment 11 13

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner, State of Washington, the respondent below, by and through Rosemary Kaholokula, Chief Criminal Prosecuting Attorney for Skagit County, and Erik Pedersen, Senior Deputy Prosecutor, petitions this Court to review the April 8, 2019, decision of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Ward*, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 438 P.3d 588 (2019) (77044-6-I, 2019 WL 1513834). A copy of the published opinion is attached as Appendix A.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On April 8, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a decision holding that the trial court deprived the defendant of his right to present a necessity defense by precluding expert testimony regarding climate change in defense to a charge of burglary for breaking into a locked fenced area and shutting off oil pipeline valves. The trial court had held that the defendant could not establish no reasonable legal alternatives existed to permit the defense.

This is a decision terminating review permitting review under RAP 13.4(a).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Where the trial court determined the defendant had not shown that no other legal alternatives were available, is the Court of Appeals decision permitting the necessity defense in conflict with prior

- decisions of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(2)?
- 2. Where the trial court determined the defense could not establish that no other legal alternative was available, and thus the evidence was not relevant, is the Court of Appeals decision to apply the de novo review standard in conflict with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)?
- 3. Where the defendant acknowledged during testimony that other legal alternatives were available, is the Court of Appeals decision providing for the defense of necessity a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by Supreme Court. under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Summary of Trial Court Proceeding.

Kenneth Ward cut the lock on a fenced pipeline valve station, two locks on valves, and turned the valves thereby shutting off the pipeline. Ward livestreamed his actions with the help of an assistant in order to document his cause.

Ward was charged with sabotage, burglary, and criminal trespass. CP 9-10.

The State moved to preclude testimony of a necessity defense. CP 1, 1/24/17 RP 2-5. Ward responded. CP 1-8. At the hearing, Ward conceded there were alternatives to direct action, including some he had not tried:

And on the fourth prong [of WPIC 18.02] no reasonable alternative existed. This case more than most others I think we've seen where the necessity defense has been proposed meets that fourth prong. We have here a defendant who has worked in the environmental movement now for close to four decades. It's not that there are things he could have tried, which there are. But there are also a long list, as I set forth in the brief, of things that he actually did try. And some of them were —well, some of them just didn't work for whatever reason, and that could be true with regard to legislative lobbying or proposals of bills to lobbying administrative committees, to public education. He's tried a significant number of avenues.

1/24/17 RP 12 (emphasis added). The trial court denied the motion finding that the harm to be avoided by Ward's action was so infinitesimal that the harm was not avoided at all and that there were reasonable legal alternatives available. 1/24/17 RP 16-8. The first jury failed to reach a verdict. CP 13. Ward filed a lengthy motion on reconsideration. CP 11-381. The motion made an extensive offer on proof regarding climate change, asserting that is caused by fossil fuels and "9 out of 10 climate scientists agreed." CP 12. Reconsideration was denied by the trial court. CP 11-381, 6/6/17 RP 135.

¹ Ward did not designate the State's pleadings filed in the trial court.

At trial a deputy testified that he responded to a complaint by pipeline officials that a pipeline was being shut down. 6/5/16 RP 40, 54, 60-1. The deputy found Ward inside a fenced area, with locked gates, that surrounded a containment area for pipes. 6/5/16 RP 41-42, 61. Ward had cut the lock on the fence, and on two valves, and had installed a chain and a lock on the two valves. 6/5/16 RP 44, 46-8.

Ward was supported by two people, one with a video camera. 6/5/16 RP 43. The area was signed with no trespassing signs and warned of dangers of hydrogen sulfite that was present in the crude oil being piped though the area. 6/5/16 RP 61-62. Shutting down the valve could have built up pressure to the point of breaking, causing harm to those nearby. 6/5/16 RP 63. The pipeline was restarted in four hours. 6/6/17 RP 64.

Ward admitted to cutting the locks to get in, cutting the valve and the safety block valve, closing the valve, and attaching his own chain. 6/6/17 RP 112. The trial court permitted Ward to testify as to his work on climate change. 6/6/17 RP 95-9. The trial court also permitted Ward to testify over objection that his civil disobedience had worked.

Q. Were there any acts of civil disobedience you engaged in that ultimately worked?

MR. JOHNSON: Objection as to relevance.

MS. REGAN: This goes to his motivation and intent.

THE COURT: You may answer.

THE WITNESS: Depends on how you define "worked". So no, nothing is working because the problem is getting worse. If part of the definition of working is to engage in a direct action, which affects whether or not a particular source of emissions continues, then yes, I have engaged in at least two actions that contributed to the shutting down of major sources of carbon emissions.

6/6/17 RP 106. Ward testified that he "got together with a group of people, and we decided to take action to directly address the burning of tar sands oil." 6/6/17 RP 108. Ward admitted planning with four others to the simultaneous shutdown of pipelines in five states. 6/6/17 RP 109. Over objection, Ward was permitted to testify and refer to a chart about the impact of seal level rise due to global warming. 6/6/17 RP 112-4.

- **Q.** Why were you attempting to do that?
- **A.** I was attempting to take the most effective measure that I could think of to address this problem to avoid cataclysmic climate change.
- **Q.** Did you believe that there was anything left to do that may have been legal that could have addressed the issue?

••

- **A.** I think that there are legal steps that can be taken, and I continue to take those. But I think that alone they are insufficient.
- **Q.** What are the other steps that you continue to participate in?
- **A.** Well, I'm engaged in efforts in my own state, which has been quite successful. The City of Portland has just announced a plan to shift to 100

percent renewable energy, and I supported that. I am engaged in general public education. And I am increasingly looking at ways to support candidates for office who endorse a significant plan of action on climate change.

6/6/17 RP 114-15.

The trial court denied Ward the necessity defense instruction as well as instructions pertaining to climate change and tar sands. CP 98, 101, 102, 6/6/17 RP 129, 130, 135.

Ward appealed contending "his actions were his only means to effect political change because he had exhausted all reasonable legal alternatives." Petitioner's Opening Brief at 6. Ward contended the trial court's decision violated his right to present a defense. Petitioner's Opening Brief at pages 13, 31.

2. Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals held that the appropriate standard of review of the trial court's decision on the motion in limine to exclude the necessity defense was de novo review. *State v. Ward*, 438 P.3d at 592. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court finding that that Ward had presented evidence supporting no reasonable alternatives. *State v. Ward*, 438 P.3d at 588. The Court of Appeals also held the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id* at 597.

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals decision providing for a necessity defense where the defense failed to establish that there were no reasonable legal alternatives is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Courts of Appeal.

In order to sustain a necessity defense, a defendant must establish that <u>no</u> reasonable legal alternative existed. *State v. Gallegos*, 73 Wn. App. 644, 650, 871 P.2d 621 (1994)², *State v. Diana*, 24 Wn. App. 908, 916, 604 P.2d 1312 (1979).

A defendant must show "that he had actually tried the alternative or had no time to try it, or that a history of futile attempts revealed the illusionary benefits of the alternative." *State v. Parker*, 127 Wn. App. 352, 355, 110 P.3d 1152 (2005) (necessity unavailable for unlawful possession of firearm where defendant did not contact police and did not establish he was under threat of harm). In this case, the Court of Appeals stated: "Here, in contrast with *Parker*, Ward offered evidence that he had tried the alternatives and they were unsuccessful." *Id* 438 P.3d at 595. This statement is not supported by the record in at least two respects. First, Ward conceded at the pretrial hearing that there were alternatives that he had not tried. 1/24/17 RP

Trial court properly excluded evidence in support of a necessity defense where defendant's proffer did not preclude the alternative of seeking assistance from a police officer.

12³. Second, Ward testified at the trial that some of the alternatives, in fact, were successful: "Well, I'm engaged in efforts in my own state, which has been quite successful." 6/6/17 RP 115.

The requirement to avail oneself of the necessity defense is that there be <u>no</u> reasonable legal alternative. Here, there were reasonable alternatives that Ward had not tried. Further those alternatives that he did try were not unsuccessful. 6/6/17 RP 115.

In *State v. Brockway*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1064 (Div. I 2018) (unpublished), ⁴ defendants were convicted of trespass after entering a railroad yard and blocking the tracks in order to protest the coal and oil trains. They appealed the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on the necessity defense. The appellate court affirmed the trial court because of the defendants' failure to establish the lack of any reasonable legal alternative:

The defendants' own testimony acknowledged multiple legal alternatives available to support their efforts to draw attention to the global climate change and the impacts of rail shipping of fossil fuels. . . . The testimony offered by defendants recognized that there is a legal alternative to the illegal action: using the democratic process to effect change.

State v. Brockway, slip op at 4.

[&]quot;We have here a defendant who has worked in the environmental movement now for close to four decades. It's not that there are things he could have tried, which there are. But there are also a long list, as I set forth in the brief, of things that he actually did try."

The existence of methods of distribution of a message defeats the claim of no legal alternatives.

It is, of course, impossible to argue that nuclear war is not a more serious harm than a peaceful, if unlawful, antinuclear prayer demonstration. It is just as impossible, however, to argue that there are not reasonable alternatives to violating the law under which these defendants were convicted. There are thousands of opportunities for the propagation of the anti-nuclear message: in the nation's electoral process; by speech on public streets, in parks, in auditoriums, in churches and lecture halls; and by the release of information to the media, to name only a few. United States v. Bailey authoritatively answers appellants' third argument in this appeal, inasmuch as "a reasonable, legal alternative to violating the law" clearly existed. *Id.*

U.S. v. Quilty, 741 F.2d 1031, 1033–34 (7th Cir. 1984) (bold emphasis added) (evaluating reasonable alternatives to trespass on military facility).

Generally, it would be very difficult for a defendant to make a showing of <u>no</u> legal alternatives in a civil disobedience case because harm can always be mitigated by congressional action. In fact, the very purpose of civil disobedience is to galvanize fellow citizens to action in the political process, i.e. to contact their representatives and press for change.

Ward testified to preparing a strategy "about how to have a public conversation about climate change" which led him to the incident where he shut off the pipeline. 6/6/17 RP 92. He also acknowledged calling upon the

⁴ This decision is unpublished. Pursuant to GR 14.1(a) this is cited as a nonbinding

President and the Federal Government to take action. 6/6/17 RP 108, 110-11. His acknowledged engagement in the democratic process defeats his ability to pursue his defense.

Commentators supporting the political necessity defense argue that the 'no legal alternative' requirement should be relaxed to require that 'no reasonable traditional alternatives are available to stop or prevent the harm, or a history of futile attempts to use accepted means makes any anticipated results from such means illusory.'5...

. . .

But it does not follow that a person should be allowed to break the law just because his efforts to use traditional democratic channels do not always work. Inevitably, in a democracy—even a 'perfect' one—some lobbying efforts will not 'work' because the majority will reject them. Democratic principles do not promise that all ideas will prevail; they promise only that the ideas that do prevail, do so because a majority of representatives has endorsed them. ... Protest groups should not be able to argue, then, that their failure to succeed in the democratic process should permit them to circumvent it.

Brent D. Wride, Political Protest and the Illinois Defense of Necessity, 54 U. Chi. L. Rev. 1070, 1084–85 (1987).

So, Ward cannot claim that political, democratic process is not a reasonable alternative for him to have used when it is that very process that he means to encourage citizens to engage in.

The Court of Appeals decision authorizing the necessity defense is in

authority which may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate.

conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. The Court of Appeals decision applying a standard of de novo review for relevancy determinations is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals below applied a de novo standard of review to the trial court's determination that the defendant could not establish the necessity defense because of a claim of a Sixth Amendment violation for right to present a defense. *State v. Ward*, 438 P.3d at 592.

This Court has held a trial court's ruling on a motion in limine or the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S.Ct. 1193, 140 L.Ed.2d 323 (1998) *citing, State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). (this court will not disturb a trial court's rulings on a motion in limine or the admissibility of evidence absent an abuse of the court's discretion), *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 658, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (the admission and exclusion of relevant evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and the court's decision will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion).

⁵ Robert Aldridge and Virginia Stark, Nuclear War, Citizen Intervention, and the Necessity Defense, 26 Santa Clara L. Rev. 299, 333 (1986).

Furthermore, where an affirmative defense, including necessity, consists of several elements and the testimony supporting one element of the defense is lacking, there is no right to present the defense. *U.S. v. Bailey*, 444 U.S. 394, 415–16, 100 S. Ct. 624, 62 L.Ed. 2d 575 (1980) (escapee was not entitled to claim duress or necessity unless he could demonstrate that given imminence, escape was his only reasonable alternative).

In *State v. Aver*, this Court evaluated the trial court's ruling grant of a motion in limine to exclude defenses based on necessity and international law. *State v. Aver*, 109 Wn.2d 303, 311, 745 P.2d 479 (1987). The defendants in *Aver* had obstructed a train believed to have been carrying nuclear warheads. *Id*, at 305.The Court held 'that a necessity defense is not supported by the record in this case." *Aver*, 109 Wn.2d at 311. This Court held "that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the motion in limine." *Id*. Ward acknowledged before the Court of Appeals that this Court had upheld the pretrial denial of the necessity defense because the offer of proof filed to satisfy the 'minimum standard." Petitioner's Opening Brief at 26.

The Court of Appeals decision which applied a de novo review standard on a grant of a motion in limine to exclude a necessity defense is in

conflict with this Court's decision in *Aver* and other published decision of this Court on review of motions in limine. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In *State v. Horn*, Division II reconciled the standard of review on a Sixth Amendment claim with the standard of review on an evidentiary claim that the defendant was not permitted to introduce evidence of his defense. *State v. Horn*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 302, 415 P.3d 1225 (2018). While the claimed Sixth Amendment violation is reviewed de novo, a trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Horn*, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 310, *citing State v. Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333, 394 P.3d 373 (2017), *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.2d 576 (2010)⁶, *State v. Strizheus*, 163 Wn. App. 820, 829, 262 P.3d 100 (2011).

The *Horn* court noted the Sixth Amendment right to present a defense is reviewed under a three-step test: (1) is the evidence that the defendant desires to admit of "at least minimal relevance," (2) if relevant, has the State shown prejudice that would ensue upon its admission, and (3) does the prejudice outweigh the probative. *State v. Horn*, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 310. The *Horn* court held that step one, the relevance step, is reviewed under

In *Jones*, this court determined that exclusion of the defendant's own testimony that the victim had agreed to a sexual encounter during an all-night drug induced sex party was not marginally relevant but instead had "extremely high probative value" to the issue of consent. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 721. This was a misapplication of the law and thus not subject to abuse of discretion on review. *State v. Blair*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 343, 351, 415 P.3d 1232 (2018).

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