FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/7/2019 4:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97182-0 COA No. 77044-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

KENNETH ARTHUR WARD, Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ralph Hurvitz, WSBA 7365 P.O. BOX 25642 Seattle, WA 98165 T: 206.223.1747

Lauren Regan, *pro hac vice* (OSB 970878) 783 Grant Street, Ste. 200 Eugene, OR 97402 T: 541.687.9180

Alice Meta Marquardt Cherry, WSBA 52082 2150 Allston Way, Suite 320 Berkeley, CA 94704 T: 847.859.9572

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

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

The Court of Appeals below followed a similar procedure. It found that Mr. Ward offered "sufficient evidence" of the reasonableness of his belief that his actions were necessary to minimize the harm he perceived; that the harms of global climate change were greater than the harms caused by his actions; that he did not bring about these harms; and that there were no legal reasonable alternatives to his conduct. Ward, 438 P.3d at 594-95. These conclusions were based on an analysis of the elements of Washington's common law necessity defense, which determine what evidence is relevant for a defendant offering such a defense. The Court of Appeals therefore engaged in an inquiry into the minimal relevance of Mr. Ward's evidence, and, given that "[t]he threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low," Horn, 3 Wash. App.2d 302, 313, 415 P.3d 1225, found that the trial court erred in ruling all of his evidence irrelevant (noting additionally that the trial court would not have "abuse[d] its discretion" if Mr. Ward had introduced this evidence solely for the

9

purpose of inducing jury nullification, but finding that he had not, *Ward*, 438 P.3d at 595).

The State's insistence that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with other decisions appears to stem from an assumption that, because the Court correctly stated at the outset that de novo review is applied to claims of constitutional error, its findings violate a presumed separation of constitutional and evidentiary questions. As noted above, this Court and the Court of Appeals have stated clearly that no such bright-line distinction exists.¹ However, even under such a strict division, the Court of Appeals' opinion clearly describes several trial court errors that constitute abuses of discretion, even in the absence of the constitutional concern. Abuses of discretion occur where

(1) The decision is "manifestly unreasonable," that is, it falls "outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard"; (2) The decision is "based on untenable grounds," that is, "the factual findings are unsupported by the record"; or (3) The decision is "based on untenable reasons," that is, it is "based on an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard."

¹ For the same reason, the State's claim that there is a general rule that abuse of discretion review applies to motions in limine is unavailing. When, as below, a trial court rules on a motion in limine that seeks to admit or exclude evidence relevant to a defense, it is simply making a ruling on the admissibility of evidence. *See State v. Powell*, 126 Wash. 2d 244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). The Court of Appeals below correctly treated such a ruling under the same *Iniguez* rule governing evidentiary rulings at trial.

State v. Dye, 178 Wash. 2d 541, 548, 309 P.3d 1192, 1196 (2013) (citing *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wash.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)).

The Court of Appeals pointed to several instances in which the trial court incorrectly applied the legal standard of the necessity defense:

- The reasonableness of Mr. Ward's beliefs was a question for the jury, not the court. *Ward*, 438 P.3d at 594.
- Mr. Ward was not required to prove that the targeted harm was actually avoided or minimized. *Id*.
- Mr. Ward created a question of fact on whether there were reasonable legal alternatives. *Id.* at 595.
- Mr. Ward provided evidence that he was not engaged in purely symbolic action intended to induce jury nullification. *Id.* at 596.

Thus, even under a theory that strictly separates evidentiary errors under an abuse of discretion standard from constitutional errors under a de novo standard, the Court of Appeals' standard of review was correct. Its analysis of the trial court's errors should stand.

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Err in its Conclusion that Mr. Ward's Sixth Amendment Right to a Defense Was Denied.

The United States Constitution guarantees the right of criminal defendants to trial by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Duncan v. Louisiana*, 391 U.S. 145, 155-56 (1968) ("A right to jury trial is granted to criminal defendants in order to prevent oppression by the Government. . . .

It has long been settled that due process protects persons charged with criminal conduct by permitting them to present exculpatory evidence to the jury."). The Washington Constitution likewise protects the right of criminal defendants to a fair jury trial. Const. art. I § 22; *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720 ("A defendant's right to an opportunity to be heard in his defense, including the rights to examine witnesses against him and to offer testimony, is basic in our system of jurisprudence.")

To ensure full realization of Sixth Amendment guarantees, defendants must be given a "meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense," *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 324, including an opportunity to "present [their] version of the facts . . . to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies," *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967). "The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." *Chambers*, 410 U.S. at 294.

A defendant's ability to call witnesses in her defense is especially important to the vindication of her Sixth Amendment rights. "The rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one's own behalf have long been recognized as essential to due process." *Chambers*, 410 U.S. at 294. *See also id.* at 302 ("Few rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present witnesses in his own defense."); *Washington*, 388 U.S. at 19 ("The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense."); *State v. Smith*, 101 Wn. 2d 36, 41 (Wash. 1984) (reaffirming defendants' right to offer witness testimony).

It is the province of the jury, not the judge, to decide facts. *State v*. *Fry*, 168 Wn. 2d 1, 18 (Wash. 2010) (finding that the trial court had overstepped its role and reaffirming the province of the jury to decide facts). Where a trial court must evaluate factual evidence to determine the availability of an affirmative defense as a matter of law, it must interpret the evidence "strongly in favor of the defendant" and "must not weigh the proof or judge the witnesses' credibility, which are exclusive functions of the jury." *State v. May*, 100 Wn. App. 478, 482, 997 P.2d 956 (2000).

In this case, evidence and testimony on the necessity defense at trial was indispensable to Mr. Ward's "version of the facts," *Washington*, 388 U.S. at 19, and to his entire theory of the case. The bare facts of his conduct — the facts giving rise to the charges — were not just uncontested but had been video-recorded and publicly disseminated. The question at issue was not whether Mr. Ward was factually responsible but whether he was legally culpable.² It was constitutionally mandatory that

² The fact that the jury hung on both charges in Mr. Ward's first trial, Feb. 1, 2017 RP 254, and on one of two charges in his second trial, CP 438, may be an indication that ordinary people understand this distinction.

Mr. Ward be permitted to introduce evidence to contest his culpability as long as that evidence was relevant and otherwise proper.

As explained below in Part III.C, Mr. Ward's evidence was more than sufficient to meet his pre-trial burden of proof. By rejecting Mr. Ward's evidence in favor of speculation as to additional facts that might contradict it, Jan. 24, 2017 RP 16-18, and by citing an irrelevant concern for the supposedly controversial nature of the case, Jan. 24, 2017 RP 18 (comparing the case to "the Scopes monkey trial"), the trial court deprived Mr. Ward of the opportunity to present the central theory of his case and denied the jury its province as trier of fact.

The Court of Appeals ruled correctly that the trial court's decision to exclude all necessity evidence violated Mr. Ward's Sixth Amendment right to a defense. Having freely admitted to the conduct charged by the State, the trial court's exclusion of proper evidence left Mr. Ward with no meaningful options for defending himself — the fundamental issue of fairness to which the Sixth Amendment's protections are directed.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Comports with Washington Law on the Necessity Defense.

The Courts of Appeals recognized the common law defense of necessity in *State v. Gallegos*, 73 Wn.App. 644, 651, 871 P.2d 621 (1994) and in *State v. Bailey*, 77 Wn.App. 732, 893 P.2d 681 (1995). The necessity defense is comprised of four elements, as summarized in the Washington Pattern Instructions: "(1) the defendant reasonably believed the commission of the crime was necessary to avoid or minimize a harm; and (2) harm sought to be avoided was greater than the harm resulting from a violation of the law; and (3) the threatened harm was not brought about by the defendant; and (4) no reasonable legal alternative existed." WPIC § 18.02. In its Petition the State argues that Mr. Ward admitted that he had legal alternatives and that the Court of Appeals' analysis of the legal alternatives element is in conflict with Washington case law. Neither contention is correct.

As the comments to the Pattern Instructions note, the use of the word "reasonable" before "legal alternatives" is deliberate and has a clear basis in Washington case law. WPIC § 18.02, Committee Cmt. 2016. To be construed as available for purposes of a necessity defense, legal alternatives must be reasonable. *State v. Parker*, 127 Wn.App. 352, 354– 55, 110 P.3d 1152 (2005); *see also State v. Jeffrey*, 77 Wn.App. 222, 224– 26, 889 P.2d 956 (1995). In *State v. Parker*, Division II held that a defendant satisfying the legal alternatives element must demonstrate that "that he had actually tried the alternative or had no time to try it, *or that a history of futile attempts revealed the illusionary benefits of the alternative*." 127 Wn. App. at 355 (emphasis added). "Reasonable," in this context, means that a given alternative is sufficiently effective in addressing the problem as not to be "illusionary." Likewise, to be "reasonable," potential legal alternatives must also be evaluated in light of the particularized harm(s) the defendant sought to avert, since any evaluation of the effectiveness or futility of an alternative must take into account the targeted harm.

The reasonability requirement is a common-sense safeguard also found in the case law of other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Commonwealth v. Magadini, 474 Mass. 593, 601 (2016) ("Our cases do not require a defendant to rebut every alternative that is conceivable; rather, a defendant is required to rebut alternatives that likely would have been considered by a reasonable person in a similar situation."); State v. Greenwood, 237 P.3d 1018, 1026 (Ak. 2010) ("To meet the 'some evidence" test for the fourth element, [the defendant] is not required to present evidence that every possible alternative was unavailable to her"); People v. Gray, 571 N.Y.S.2d 851, 860 (Crim. Ct. 1991) (finding that the defendants' history of unsuccessful attempts to minimize air pollution demonstrated that legal means were ineffective); see also Wayne LaFave & Austin Scott, Criminal Law, 381-383 (1972); Steven M. Bauer & Peter J. Eckerstrom, *The State* Made Me Do It: The Applicability of the Necessity Defense to Civil Disobedience, 39 Stan. L. Rev. 1173, 1179-80 (1987) ("Reasonable must mean more than available; it must imply effective.").

Here, the Court of Appeals took proper account of the reasonability requirement. As Mr. Ward's offer of proof summarized, and as discussed in the defense's previous briefing, CP 3, 7-8, 31-35, legal methods such as public education, litigation, and advocacy before legislatures — undertaken by Ward over a 40-year period and by many others — have proven remarkably *in*effective in averting harms caused by the growing climate emergency, and the harms of tar sands pipelines in particular. While theoretically available, these methods are in fact "illusionary" under the reasoning of *Parker*.³ The fact that it is possible for Ward to "distribut[e] . . . a message" about the harms of climate disruption and tar sands pipelines, Pet. Review 9, does not establish the reasonableness of thus attempting to avert the harms caused by them. While Mr. Ward was not required at the pre-trial stage to establish conclusively that reasonable legal alternatives were unavailable to him only to offer a preliminary showing, Horn, 3 Wash. App.2d 302, 313, 415 P.3d 1225; State v. Rouw, 156 Wn. 198, 208 (Wash. 1930) ("Prima *facie* case means only that the case has proceeded upon sufficient proof to

³ As Mr. Ward's experts were prepared to explain in their testimony, empirical evidence now demonstrates that the policy preferences of nonwealthy Americans have a near-zero effect on public policy, on climate as on other issues. Mot. Recons. Ex. G, R, E. Mr. Ward's experts were also prepared to testify to the overriding influence of the fossil fuel industry on both federal and state legislatures and the historical track record of civil disobedience in spurring progress on theretofore-intractable social problems. Mot. Recons. Ex. G, R, E, F, H.

that stage where it must be submitted to the jury, and not decided against the plaintiff as a matter of law") — his evidence, if allowed at trial, could have convinced a reasonable juror that there were no such alternatives.

The Court of Appeals noted correctly that Mr. Ward did not, contrary to the State's assertions in its Petition, admit at trial to the existence of reasonable legal alternatives. *Ward*, 438 P.3d 588 at 597 ("Ward was addressing the ineffectiveness of his alternatives and was not admitting that he had reasonable legal alternatives available to him."). The Court of Appeals was likewise correct in its analysis of the harm Mr. Ward sought to avert. Mr. Ward did not address his actions to averting any and all harms associated with global climate change; rather, his protest targeted the special dangers of tar sands oil, with its disproportionate contributions to climate change as well as sea level rise in Washington. *Ward*, 438 P.3d 588 at 596. The examples cited by the State as evidence that Ward failed to exhaust legal alternatives, Pet. Review 5-6, 7-8 — such as securing renewable energy commitments from the City of Portland have no bearing on these particularized harms from tar sands pipelines.

The State does not cite any published opinions in Washington that conflict with the Court of Appeals decision. Moreover, there is no legal authority in Washington suggesting that reasonable legal alternatives are necessarily available in protest cases. Pet. Review 9, 10 (arguing that "harm can always be mitigated by congressional action" and that Ward's "acknowledged engagement in the democratic process defeats . . . his defense").

In the absence of published authority conflicting with the Court of Appeals' analysis of the necessity defense, the State's Petition does not qualify for review under this Court's Rules. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

D. The State's Mischaracterization of the Evidence Invalidates Its Argument about the Public Interest.

The State's final argument for review cites the public interest. Pet. Review 16. A premise of the State's argument is that legal alternatives were available to Mr. Ward — and, the State implies, to other protesters like him. *Id.* 16-17. However, as noted above, Mr. Ward did not admit that reasonable legal alternatives were available to him — his evidence, if allowed, might have demonstrated otherwise — and there is no authority to indicate that such alternatives must automatically be construed as available in protest cases. The State's argument also assumes that Mr. Ward "commit[ted] [a] crime[]" notwithstanding his affirmative argument as to the justification for his actions. Pet. Review 17. Whether Mr. Ward committed a crime has not been conclusively established, given that, as the Court of Appeals held, the trial court denied his right to a complete defense. Since the State's argument regarding the public interest rests on untenable assumptions, it cannot provide a basis for review.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in this Answer, this Court should deny review and affirm the Court of Appeals opinion recognizing Mr. Ward's Sixth Amendment right to a complete defense.